ETHICS MANAGEMENT FOR INTERNATIONAL ORGANISATION: THE CASE OF THE UN ETHICS OFFICE

By

Sarah Radcliffe

Submitted to:

Central European University Department of Public Policy

In partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Public Policy
(Mundus MAPP)

Supervisor: Associate Professor Agnes Batory

Budapest, Hungary 2009

Abstract

This research investigates the suggestion that the launch of the UN Ethics Office in 2006 represented a 'culture change' in ethics management for the international organisation. The influence of ideas upon the development of the office, in particular the dominant public sector ethics discourse of 'integrity', is assessed. Taking a discursive institutionalist approach to institutional change, it is asked whether ideas were constitutive to the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office. Tracing the process of change within the UN, evidence is sought in support of two alternative explanations for the ethics reform: one favouring the role of external shocks on existing institutions (chiefly, the 'Oil for Food' scandal); the other emphasising the independent, causal role of ideas which had been embedded in new trajectory of reform activities. The analysis finds most support for the former explanation-ideas exerted independent influence in the reform process, but did not play a constitutive role in the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office.

Acknowledgements

I wish to acknowledge the assistance and advice of my supervisor, Dr Agnes Batory, throughout the research process.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
1. Introduction	
1.1. The UN Ethics Office: A new era of organisational integrity	
1.2 Ideational path dependency: A discursive institutionalist approach	
1.3 Competing explanations: Tracing the process of institutional change	
1.4 Prior positions: Seeking explanations in the ethics literature	
1.5 Branching points: Five periods in the process of institutional change	7
2. Prior positions	8
2.1 Traditions in international affairs- Ethical dimensions	
2.2 Ethics in Public Administration	11
2.3 Prior Positions: Integrity in International Organisation	13
3. Tracing the process of change	15
3.1 Period 1: Evolution and Review (1945-2001)	
3.2 Period 2: Planning an organisation of integrity (2001- 2004)	20
3.3 Period 3: Oil for Food (February 2004- September 2005)	
3.4 Period 4: World Summit Agenda (September 2005- May 2006)	29
3.5 Period 5: UN Ethics Office- the first three years (May 2006- present)	
4. Conclusion	37
4.1 The OII and the creation of ideational path dependency	37
4.2 Independent, but causal?	
D-f L'-4	40

1. Introduction

1.1. The UN Ethics Office: A new era of organisational integrity

The United Nations (UN) Ethics Office was established on the 1st of January 2006 to provide four new functions in support of ethical exercise of administrative discretion at the UN:

- 1. The administration of a new financial disclosure programme (conflict of interest declaration).
- 2. The protection of staff against retaliation, when reporting misconduct or participating in investigation and audit (whistleblower protection).
- 3. The provision of confidential information, guidance and advice to staff, including a new ethics helpline.
- 4. The development of ethical standards and education and training programmes (including compulsory annual ethics training).

(UN, 2005b)

Prior to the establishment of the Office, the UN was in no sense bereft of institutional architecture in support of ethical conduct. The existing system had its roots in the original UN Charter, and was evolving and expanding organically. Since the foundation of the UN, staff had relied upon clear descriptions of what was and was not appropriate conduct. This explicit, rules-based approach to ethics management aligned with the more fundamental organisational logic of the UN: safeguarding organisational interests, goals and mandates, and those of member states. The introduction of the Ethics Office, however, represented the ascendancy of a new logic of *integrity*, which advanced the ideas of *accountability* and

transparency as the constitutive elements of ethical administration within international organisation. In doing so, the UN self-consciously mirrored international trends in public sector ethics management (see Armstrong, 2005). The Secretary-General's Bulletin to establish the Office stated that:

"the objective of the Ethics Office is to assist the Secretary-General in ensuring that all staff members observe and perform their functions consistent with the highest standards of integrity required by the Charter of the United Nations through fostering a culture of ethics, transparency, and accountability" (UN, 2005b: 1).

Indeed, despite the substantive new functions of the Office, listed above, this promise of a cultural shift was the dominant theme in public statements in introduction and support of the new office. For example:

"Whereas in the past members of the UN staff were merely expected to comply with the rules and regulations governing their service, in today's UN they're being persuaded and encouraged to go beyond mere compliance and to understand the true nature of public duty in the public interest, with all that this implies."

Tunku Abdul Aziz, Special Advisor to the Secretary General on ethics, quoted by UN

News, 11 May 2006 (UN News, 2006c)

"It's not a 'gotcha' or enforcement office."

Melissa Parke, UN Department of Management, quoted in UN News, 2006b

The events, decisions and motivations which provide the background to this emphatic delineation of the Office from the institutional approach to ethics preceding it are the objects of this research. It will be asked whether the role of ideas was as determinative in the creation of the Ethics Office as the *ex post* public accounts suggest. The alternative public narrative to that presented by the UN is that the Office was created in response to a large-scale scandal surrounding allegations of financial misappropriation on the Oil for Food programme in Iraq (BBC, 2005a). The claims made above would therefore be considered cynical, for public relations purposes.

This project will take a sceptical stance towards both narratives, and precisely trace the influence of both sets of factors- ideas and external pressures- across time. The drivers of institutional change will be highlighted at key moments across more than five years of internal and public processes culminating in the opening of the Ethics Office. The investigation will hinge on the central research question,

were ideas constitutive to the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office?

The decision to view the research problem of institutional change within the UN ethics system through the ideational lens will not be at the detriment of attention to relevant 'material' factors- chiefly, external pressure from stakeholders and the threat that public scandal posed to the perceived legitimacy of the UN and the ability to carry out its mandate. It may be taken for granted that the impact of such factors are always present in political analysis (Berman, 1998), and there are clear circumstantial reasons for considering the impact of the Oil for Food scandal, particularly, in this case. Nonetheless, to suggest the possibility that ideas played a *causal* role places them at the centre of the analysis- not just one element of the context in which institutional change is mediated, but an independent cause of the change. In suggesting that ideas may have exerted a causal role in the process of institutional

change which produced the UN Ethics Office, this research draws upon the propositions of discursive institutionalism.

1.2 Ideational path dependency: A discursive institutionalist approach

The discursive institutionalist approach is still a nascent methodology¹ within the broader new institutionalist family of approaches. Its key point of different from other institutionalisms is the determinative status it allows to ideas in the analysis. It can be regarded as a development upon theoretical gaps left by historical institutionalism: chiefly, how to account for change of relatively stable trajectories, without automatically resorting to external shocks (such as political scandals) (Hay 2001; Schmidt 2008). Moreover, the approach also extends the concept of historical path dependency to encompass *ideational* path dependence (Hay, 2008). Through this process, past commitments to particular ideas and discourse become embedded and hard to shift, and may be considered themselves institutions (Schmidt, 2009).

Discursive institutionalism likewise offers an alternative to the functionalist gloss given to change within rational institutionalism; and the fatalist image of one-way institutional norm socialisation offered by sociological (organisational) institutionalism (Schmidt, 2009). The researcher in the discursive approach may not simply assume that the institution exists for its stated purpose: institutions are "structures whose functionality or dysfunctionality is an open- empirical and historical- question" (Hay, 2008: 65). Taking this approach, this paper will problematise any tacit assumption that a reformed integrity management system for the UN has taken a particular form for the singular purpose of minimising unethical behaviour and unacceptable conduct within the administrative boundaries of the organisation. The organisation clearly has these interests, but as the

The new institutionalism is here regarded as a methodology for understanding political action, not just a theory or model of politics (see also Schmidt, 2009)

alternative explanations already sketched above suggest, there may have been other driving concerns shaping the process.

The chief methodological challenge in testing ideational explanations is to separate ideas and discourse which may be considered determinative, from the myriad of ideational factors at play in any political outcome. To ensure precision, this analysis will employ the concept of 'programmatic ideas', drawn from one of several frameworks developed by ideational theorists (see for example Campbell's 2001 typology). Programmatic ideas have the operational advantage of being both abstract (not simply a logical best-course reaction to material factors), and limited in scope (compared to a discourse, ideology or worldview) (Berman, 1998). They are identifiable from resulting concrete, predictable courses of action (Berman, 1998; Campbell, 2001). It is also possible to identify the 'carriers' of such ideas, where they would be expected to be found in the system, and how they would respond to external pressures based on a particular set programmatic beliefs (Berman, 1998; Campbell, 2001). As such, it will be ideas of this type which will be sought in developing an explanation for the reform of the UN ethics regime.

1.3 Competing explanations: Tracing the process of institutional change

The discursive institutionalist approach also suggests methods and tools which are well-suited to the aim of describing causal relationships and testing hypotheses in a within-case analysis. Process tracing will be the dominant method in the research design, using the tools of documentary and archival analysis (Tansey 2007). In process tracing, the researcher hypothesises causal chains of factors (independent variables) which may have led to the observed outcome (Checkel, 2005; George & Bennett, 2005). This step-by-step nature of process tracing accommodates for the illustration of path dependency and the identification of 'branching points' in an institutional trajectory- how decisions at key points may determine

future possibilities and outcomes (George & Bennett, 2005).

As well as the practical applicability to problems of institutional change (see for example Bates, 1998; Parsons, 2002; Rosenthal, 1998), process tracing lends conceptual and methodological rigour to the analysis of factors which present a measurement challenge to ideational explanations. The first such quality of process tracing is the forced consideration of equifinality, that is, the possibility that several alternative paths, combinations or sequences of events, may lead to an equivalent outcome (George & Bennett, 2005). As such, the key activity in process tracing analysis is the testing of alternative explanations, or causal mechanisms, for the phenomenon of interest. In this research, two alternative explanations will be advanced,

- a. That the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office is consistent with the ideational *status quo*, and that institutional change in the UN ethics infrastructure is best explained by exogenous shocks (the Oil for Food scandal).
- b. That the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office is a product of the embedding of a new ideational trajectory in ethics management for international organisation, characterised by the ideas of integrity, accountability and transparency.

1.4 Prior positions: Seeking explanations in the ethics literature

Before a convincing exercise in process tracing can be embarked upon, however, key prior positions and assumptions informing the analysis must be established. The apparent 'culture change' of integrity at the UN will be contextualised within relevant ethics literature, to assess whether the ideas mobilised around the Ethics Office are as revolutionary as the public statements suggest. It will be seen that there is no dedicated ethics management field

for international organisation (IO), and that the adoption of the integrity management framework represents an upwards transfer of ideas from the field *domestic* public sector ethics. These ideas are not endogenous to IO. The literature review thus both establishes the status of these concepts as programmatic ideas which may have driven institutional change, and destabilises any easy assumption that could be made concerning the inevitability, rationality or functionality of the application of these ideas to the IO context.

1.5 Branching points: Five periods in the process of institutional change

Having established the validity of the ideational component of the explanations advanced, the analysis will trace the process of institutional change over five chronological periods, separated by key turning points in the process that culminated in the development of the UN Ethics Office. The influence of the ideas of interest- integrity, accountability and transparency- will be pinpointed in each period, as will the influence of exogenous pressures upon the existing ethics management system. At the end of the exercise, conclusions will be drawn about the precise causal role played by ideas in prompting the creation and determining the functions and mandate of the UN Ethics Office.

2. Prior positions

When engaging in process-tracing as described above, proper attention to prior assumptions about the case study is vital. One such assumption behind this research has already been introduced in the discussion of the chosen methodology: that the mandate of the UN Ethics Office does not exist for purely functional reasons, or as a simple or functional response to exogenous shocks. However, there is room for more detailed consideration of the 'priors' of this case, so that the relative importance of the evidence that is found can be more easily weighed. Chiefly, there is a need to articulate a prior position about the novelty and the potency of the ideas in question. It needs to be established whether these ideas, if embedded in a trajectory of reform activities for administrative ethics, would yield genuine institutional *change* and not simply evolution along existing paths (see Thelen & Steinmo, 1992). As such, this chapter will seek to identify if within IO there is an organic source for the programmatic ideas of interest- integrity, accountability and transparency- which may have informed ethics reform at the UN.

There is no dedicated ethics literature for IO; as such, this review will seek relevant insights from the study of both international affairs and public administration. It will be seen that there is no dearth of philosophical consideration of the ethical dimensions of international affairs. However, even where there is attention to the ethical dimensions of mandate of IO, this does not readily translate to frameworks for ethical *administration* of this mandate, nor the development of an organisational culture which fosters ethical decision-making. By contrast, the literature dealing with frameworks of administrative ethics for domestic civil servants reveals possible parallels and the potential to apply principles of ethics management to the IO context via an upwards transfer of administrative principles and organizational logic. It is by no means inevitable that ethics management for IO would be

informed by the principles of accountability and transparency which are endogenous to the modern civil service. These are not a natural fit. As such, this review will reject any prior assumption that the developments in ethics management at the UN were a simple continuation of an existing ideational trajectory. It will also introduce key concepts of organisational ethics which set a backdrop for the process tracing exercise in the next chapter.

2.1 Traditions in international affairs- Ethical dimensions

It is not possible to distil what it is essentially an entire discipline- the ethical and normative dimensions of international affairs- to a comprehensive summary for application to the problem at hand. However, some key trends and cleavages in the literature are worth highlighting.

2.1.1 State-centred approaches: Idealism and Realism

State-centred approaches to international ethics rely upon a model of international affairs of relations between nations, with the self-determination of peoples and political communities as the primary ethical consideration (Frost, 1996). Within these dimensions of interest, there are two distinct camps of international relations traditions- realism and idealism- with equally disparate implications for ethical practice. The division between the two approaches hinges upon the treatment of morality within international relations, described by the 'domestic analogy' (see Graham, 1997). The domestic analogy proposes that relations between states in an international setting are morally analogous to relations between human-beings within a domestic setting. This analogy is central to the idealist approach (Amstutz, 2005). Therefore, nation-states may be seen to have developed an ethical code in the form of international law and norms to constrain action, just as individuals create and enforce moral codes in a Lockean model of human society (Graham, 1997). Within this model, the UN in may be ethically situated as the 'policeman' for ethics in international

affairs (Graham, 1997).

The realist tradition, by contrast, rejects the domestic analogy (Cohen, 1985; Graham, 1997). The realist conception of the international order is Hobbesian and anarchic, and in the absence of a sovereign authority, international relations can only ever be characterised by competing national interests (Hare & Joynt, 1982). The UN may only be considered as a fundamentally purposeful cooperative arrangement. As such, they may be considered ethically neutral (or a-moral), or to have at best an ethical character comprised of the inputs from the organization's constitutive elements (nation-states) (see for example Vincent, 1992). As state-centred approaches, however, the ethical dimensions considered by realists and idealists alike are still primarily matters of intergovernmental relations, and have only indirect suggestions for IO ethics. In this respect, approaches which take the international society itself as the unit of analysis may yield greater insights.

2.1.2 International society and global community approaches

Whereas the approaches described above are built on a conception of international relations as the decisions made by states in their interactions with other states, the other main set of contributions to the ethical dimension of international affairs are those traditions which describe a global community (see for example Dryzek, 1999; Erikson & Fossum, 2000; Higgot & Ougaard, 2002). Certain international norms are considered as evidence of the distinct ethical identity of international society, in particular human rights (see for example Nickel, 2002), but also other "settled norms" such as non-intervention, self-determination, collective security, the diplomatic system and economic cooperation (see complete list in Frost, 1996).

The key debate within this literature is between cosmopolitan and communitarian versions of international society, reflecting disparate degrees of willingness to exclude the role of the state altogether in proposing an international ethics (Amstutz, 2005; Cochran,

1999). Cosmopolitanism describes an approach to (global) ethics based on universalism and individualism: essentially, a global order in which humans are not reliant upon nation states for ethical decision-making (Amstutz, 2005; Cochran, 1999; Linklater, 2001; Mapel & Nardin, 1998). As the protector of international treaties guaranteeing universally-observed ethical principles (chiefly, human rights), the UN has a special place within the cosmopolitan vision of ethics. In more extreme versions, the UN may even be considered a "prototype of cosmopolitan government" for an international order built upon the organising principles of deliberation, agreement and consent (Graham, 1997: 15).

Communitarianism is less dismissive of the ongoing significance of states within international society. This approach is highly critical of the individualism at the centre of cosmopolitan international ethics, which it perceives as a "pre-social" description of human interactions and morality, which continue to be situated in existing social structures, even within a broader global community (Cohran, 1999). Communitarianism suggests that international ethics may therefore only be particularist, not universal. In this approach to international ethics, the UN and IOs generally may find a place in the socialisation of specific international norms, such as human rights and principles of democratic government. As with all major approaches to international ethics, however, the roles ascribed to IOs do not come inclusive of a framework for ethical decision within the organisation- the ethical discharge of the administrative functions offered by IO in international ethics is bracketed out and taken for granted. For this reason, the review will now turn to another body of ethics literature, focused entirely on administrative aspects, and make a domestic analogy of a different sort.

2.2 Ethics in Public Administration

The relevance that the ethics literature around public administration holds for IOs is

largely self-evident: given the lack of concern for intra-organisational ethics within the international affairs literature that IO would be expected to inhabit, the literature on public administration may fill some gaps. Whereas the ethical insights of the international affairs literature is largely inferred from more general propositions, and primarily concerned with political ethics, the public administration ethics literature offers guidance for administrative ethics- that is, the ethical exercise of individual discretion (Rohr, 1998).

As the UN follows the International Civil Service Commission (ICSC) in considering itself part of an 'international public sector', public service ethical standards may offer appropriate sources of guidance. However, this link remains tacit, and no dedicated attention to the ethical management issues of IOs has been made within the public service ethics literature. Indeed, where there is any attention to IO within the context of government ethics, it is to the extent that the former has created a framework of best practice for the latter (see Ghere, 2005; Menzel, 2007). Given the potential relevance, therefore, it is worth briefly outlining key themes in contemporary public administration ethics management research which have bearing on the case study.

2.2.1. Dichotomy or continuum? Compliance and Integrity

'Ethics management' should be considered a short-hand description for any set of systems or structures to promote integrity within an organisation; it should not be taken to imply direct *control* of the ethical content of individual decisions (Menzel, 2005). A frequently-made distinction among these systems (treated variously as a dichotomy, continuum, or set of mutually-enforcing principles) is between those which emphasise the creation and enforcement of rules, regulations and processes; and those which take an aspirational and essentially unenforceable approach to developing organizational cultures of 'integrity' (Maesschalck, 2004-5; OECD, 1996). The former is conventionally labelled a

'compliance' approach, and the latter the 'integrity' approach. (OECD, 1996). Much the same distinction is made by Cunningham's (2003) deontological (comprehensive rules) and principle-based (relying on conscience) management styles, or Cooper's (ed., 1994) external and internal systems distinction.

2.2.2 Multi-dimensional frameworks

Even if treated as two ends of a continuum or complementary dimensions of ethics management, the compliance/integrity framework is appealing because of a strong and simple contrast. The concepts have also been developed into more nuanced typologies for analysing ethics infrastructure. One more sophisticated approach from Maesschalck (2004-5) takes as its starting point a conventional continuum, ranging from integrity approaches (the "high road") and compliance approaches (the "low road"), which is developed using sociological grid-theory to create a fourfold typology on two dimensions, adding approaches based on "competition" and "contrived randomness" to complete the range of options. OECD (2000: 61) likewise builds upon the continuum, in this case adding the second dimension of the "overall management" style of the public agency, to show how these aspects of organisational logic interact with the chosen style of ethics regime in practice.

2.3 Prior Positions: Integrity in International Organisation

The rough overview given of the case of the UN Ethics Office in the introduction raised the possibility that mandate of the office was at least partly constituted by the influence of the concept of integrity, presented in opposition to the 'lower road' to ethics management, based on compliance. A thorough exploration of the influence of this idea, and other dominant constructs of public administration ethics such as accountability, transparency and openness, will be made in the next chapter. It is sufficient to note at this stage, however, that

it is questionable whether the treatment of IO as an international civil service is a natural or even appropriate translation of the public sector ethics literature. To apply principles of civil service ethics management to the IO context suggests that there is a strong parallel connecting the relationship between a national government and its citizens, and that between IOs and their stakeholders. To make such a claim with any certainty requires the identification of the stakeholders to whom IOs may be held accountable, and are obliged to make efforts for transparency towards. This exercise is already complex within the nation-state context (see Martin, 2003), but, if it is accepted that IO *is* the civil service of a global community, the public that is served is, conceivably, limitless. The application of the principles is awkward; these are not endogenous sources of integrity for the UN.

While, in the absence of a dedicated ethics literature for IO, the appeal of apparently transferable principles from domestic civil service is understandable, it is not an organic extension of the literature. Nor is the adoption of contemporary best-practice from the domestic sphere an inevitable direction to be pursued within the management of administrative ethics for the UN. As such, the pursuit of a programme of institutional change driven by the goal of 'integrity' would represent a new ideational trajectory for IO ethics management. It is the purpose of the next chapter to establish whether these ideational factors were constitutive in the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office.

3. Tracing the process of change

The previous chapter introduced the key prior deduction against which other evidence will be judged: that the ethics discourse of integrity, accountability and transparency is not endogenous to IO, and thus any observable alterations in the UN ethics infrastructure which embed these ideas represent institutional change, rather than evolution. They would not otherwise have happened, regardless of any shock or pressure upon the system. The aim of the analysis which follows is to establish whether such a shift occurred. Following from the research question, chosen methodology and the literature review undertaken, evidence of the influence of ideas, and the dominant ideas of domestic public ethics in particular, will be sought. For a process-tracing project to be analytically sound, however, it is essential that the researcher does not selectively pursue only explanations of personal interest, and ignore the causal relationships hypothesised by others (George & Bennett, 2005). The interest in ideational factors could be considered biased either by theoretical preferences (the chosen methodology), or analytical laziness (focus on the UN official narrative). For this reason, the process tracing exercise will seek evidence in support of two alternative explanations of the constitutive factors behind the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office.

The first explanation is that the development of the UN Ethics Office and its founding mandate represented a continuation of the ideational *status quo*. That is, the mandate of the UN Ethics Office and the motivations behind its creation fall along the same ideational trajectory that has shaped ethics management since the foundation of the UN: based on oversight and compliance, with appropriate attention to the particular organisational characteristics of the UN (e.g. 'immunity', assurance of staff loyalty to organisational interests). Within this explanation, any institutional change to occur would be the result of exogenous shocks to the system. This is the hypothesis that would be generated by historical

institutionalism, and when applied to this case study the focus inevitably shifts to the impact of the major ethical shock created by the Oil for Food scandal.

The alternative explanation is that made publicly by UN spokespeople, that the UN Ethics Office reflects a 'culture change' in the ethical outlook of the organisation. This is the ideational explanation, and would be supported by evidence that the discourse of 'integrity' has been embedded in a set of programmatic ideas (accountability, transparency), which have created a new institutional trajectory for ethics management. For this explanation to be convincing, there needs to be evidence indication that UN Ethics Office would not have taken on its five key functions in the absence of such a cultural shift, and, indeed, that this new direction in ethics management is sustainable.

In the analysis which follows, evidence the influence of each set of factors will be sought within key events and turning points in the institutional trajectory of ethics management in the UN. The narrative will be presented chronologically, and is divided for clarity into five distinct periods of reform, separated by pivotal points, events and decisions which had a determinative affect on subsequent possibilities. Three defining stages in the process of institutional change will be discussed, sandwiched between a description of the gradual evolution of the *status quo* prior to institutional change, and a review of the implementation and evolution of the new system to date.

3.1 Period 1: Evolution and Review (1945-2001)

Prior to the reform process which culminated with the introduction of the UN Ethics Office, the institutional architecture shaping ethics management within the UN consisted of the following elements, presented chronologically by date of establishment. According to UN statements throughout the reform process, none of the responsibilities of functions described have been changed or eliminated. The new office is considered an additional

element to fill gaps and address more fundamental issues in organisational ethics.

3.1.1 The Charter, Staff Regulations and Staff Rules

All institutional arrangements to ensure ethical conduct at the UN refer back to the priorities espoused in article 101 of the UN Charter, that

"the paramount consideration in the employment of the staff and in the determination of the conditions of service shall be the necessity of securing the highest standards of efficiency, competence, and *integrity*." (UN, 1945, emphasis added).

Fleshing out these principles are the more regularly updated Staff Regulations and Staff Rules, which clearly outline appropriate behaviour within UN organisations. The Rules and Regulations cover practical issues in the exercise of administrative discretion such as independence from national governments, immunities, primacy of organisational over personal interests, gifts, and conflict of interest (UN, 2002a; UN, 2008).

3.1.2 The International Civil Service Commission

The International Civil Service Commission (ICSC) is appointed by the UN General Assembly as a body of fifteen independent experts in public administration, to make informed recommendations on conditions of service within the UN Common System (ICSC, 1987). It has existed in its current form since 1974 (ICSC, 1987). Prior to this time, the International Civil Service Advisory board played a similar role, and was responsible for the initial drafting of the cornerstone of administrative ethics advice within the UN, the Standards of Conduct in the International Civil Service, in 1954 (ICSC, 2002). The ICSC revised and updated these standards in 2001. The Standards in the current form were

endorsed by the General Assembly, as were the ICSC's *Framework for Human Resource*Management in 2000 (ICSC, 2002).

The Standards remain a reference point for all ethical judgements in the UN. These build upon the concept of integrity introduced in the *UN Charter*, noting that it encompasses "honesty, truthfulness, impartiality and incorruptibility", and provides a guiding principle for the action of all international civil servants (ICSC, 2002). The Standards offers detailed guidance on appropriate relations of UN staff with each other, national governments, the public and the media, as well as expectations around personal conduct, and policies on gifts and conflict of interest (ICSC, 2002).

3.1.3 Joint Inspection Unit

The Joint Inspection Unit (JIU) was created in 1966 on a pilot basis, and made permanent in 1978 (JIU, 2004). It undertakes investigation and evaluation independently of all branches of the UN. The eleven inspectors have a mandate to ensure that UN operations are effective and that funds are used and accounted for appropriately. JIU reports provide a high-level view over management issues across the organisation (UN, 2005f)

3.1.4 United Nations Office of Internal Oversight Services

Internal to the UN but functionally independent of the rest of the organisation, the Office of Internal Oversight Services (OIOS) was established in 1994 to undertake compliance monitoring, internal auditing, investigation, inspection and evaluation and reporting role with respect to observation of the Regulations and Rules of the UN (UN, 1994). This occurs closer to the ground than the investigations undertaken by the JIU, and with more explicitly 'ethical' issues. Investigators pursue allegations made by staff, relating to "misconduct, abuse of authority, mismanagement and waste of resources" (UN, 2005e: 3).

Staff are obliged to report suspected misconduct to either the OIOS or to a higher-level official (UN, 2005e).

3.1.5 The United Nations Ombudsman

The Office of the UN Ombudsman was established in 2002 with the intention "to make available the services of an impartial and independent person to address the employment-related problems of staff members" (UN, 2002b:1). The Ombudsman offers advice and, where appropriate, facilitates mediation or informal conflict resolution. The Ombudsman does not act as an advocate for any party in disputes, but is designated as an 'agent for change' at a policy level, providing feedback for improved rules and procedures in UN employment matters (UN Ombudsman, 2009).

While each subsequent element of the ethics infrastructure has a different function, all are complimentary, and contribute to the same broad project. If the programmatic ideas behind the project were viewed through the frames of national public administration, it would be easily classified as a compliance-based regime. However, in all guiding documents there is also frequent acknowledgement of the unique features of the UN as an international organisation. There is attention to ensuring that officers are made aware of their obligations to protect the interests of the organisation, which equates to fulfilling roles effectively and efficiently. What constitutes appropriate and inappropriate behaviour is clearly delineated, and left to be mediated by the individual's personal integrity. After 2001, however, there is evidence that the approach to ethics and integrity was subject to a major ideational shift, with its origins external to the realm of IO.

3.2 Period 2: Planning an organisation of integrity (2001- 2004)

As the excerpt presented above shows, integrity has been central to the UN concept of acceptable exercise of administrative discretion since the drafting of the UN Charter in 1945. However, it is only from late 2001 that the locus of this integrity can be seen to shift from individual officers to the organisation as a whole. In this first major ideational shift in the UN approach to ethics management, the quality of *organisational* integrity is introduced as a key determinant of the quality of personal integrity demonstrated by officers, as well as a value *per se*. Over a period of around three years, various threads of administrative and management reform grounded in this idea ran in parallel and dovetailed into larger initiatives.

This period in the process of institutional change can be traced from December 2001, when the Office of the Deputy Secretary-General assigned the United Nationals Office of Drugs and Crime (UNODC) responsibility for inter-agency coordination and harmonisation on the treatment of ethics, with an emphasis on anti-corruption systems (UNODC, 2003). The UNODC described the ethics cooperation project in strategic, operational terms: as an essential prerequisite for successfully managing the global anti-corruption campaign (the Convention on Corruption) that the UN was embarking upon in member states (UNODC, 2003).

3.2.1 Launching the Organisational Integrity Initiative

As part of fulfilling its mandate, the UNODC joined the OIOS in developing the UN Organisational Integrity Initiative (OII) (UNODC, 2003). The OII aimed to foster a culture of organisational integrity, in which ethical conduct "goes beyond mere compliance with written requirements, but honours the values that lie behind them" (Fourcault, 2004). When the OII was formally launched by the OIOS in May 2003, then Under-Secretary-General for Oversight Services, Dileep Nair, also explained his motivations in functional terms,

connecting the reforms to the introduction of the Convention of Corruption:

"We must 'walk the talk' that our development agencies address to Member States in the field of good governance and encourage our senior managers to become 'champions of integrity' to lay a solid foundation for future integrity building."

(UN Press Release, 2005)

These tactic-laden descriptions of the planned reform of the UN ethics infrastructure show a desire to connect the newly embraced concept of organisational integrity to a more familiar focus on the interests of the organisation (and its member states). The strategy described is essentially to lead by example with a demonstrable commitment within the UN to high profile ideas about ethical public administration, lending greater credibility to the organisation's anti-corruption campaign. In 2003, Nair noted in his preface to the OIOS Annual Report (entitled *Integrity, Accountability, Transparency*) that one objective of the OII was simply,

"to enhance the profile of the United Nations' integrity-building and corruptioncontrol efforts [The Convention]" (UN, 2003: 3).

In 2002, while the OII framework was still being developed, Nair addressed the International Institute for Public Ethics (IIPE) biennial conference about the UN's seminal "organisational integrity system" (Nair, 2002: 2). The same reputation-centric context for the reforms was reiterated, but the speech also revealed key conceptual influences on the initiative. As well as expertise from within UN agencies, Nair acknowledged the "advice and inspiration from our colleagues in the World Bank, Transparency International, and the Ethics Resource Centre" (Nair, 2002: 2). This could be considered a fairly definitive roll-call (with the OECD as a notable exception) of research and policy centres in ethics for national public

administration, and the likely carriers of programmatic ideas from public sector ethics.

3.2.2 Implementing the OII

The OII was intended to run for two years, and encompass two main elements: staff ethics training for the senior executive downwards; and an organisation-wide survey of staff perceptions of organisational integrity to inform the new integrity system (UNODC). The first round of training was conducted for Senior Officials in June 2003 at Harvard's Kennedy School of Government, with a second round in January 2004 (Fourcault, 2004). The Office of Human Resource Management (OHRM) developed ethics training modules for all other staff (Fourcault, 2004).

In early 2003 the UN issued a Request for Proposal for the study into staff perceptions of integrity; in July consultants Deloitte & Touche LLP were engaged for the project (Deloitte, 2004). Their research, which was published in 2004, recommended that the top priority for the organisation- judged in terms of impact- was on changing "the tone at the top" so that senior officers are perceived by staff to "lead by example" (Deloitte, 2004: 7). The second most important priority identified was to improve perceptions of "staff accountability" (Deloitte, 2004: 7). Although the term accountability is used frequently within the Deloitte report, it is at no point clarified who is considered accountable to whom, in the organisation of integrity the UN aspires to become. Inferring from the specific recommendations made, however, which include better follow-through on allegations of misconduct, investigation practices and protection for whistleblowers, this accountability is framed in terms of the *organisation's* accountability to its individual staff members. This is not the dominant image created by the term when used abstractly, which is more likely to tap into associations from public administration, of the accountability of decision-makers to stakeholders. The extension of this metaphor to the UN would make the organisation as a

whole accountable to those affected by its operational and policy decisions (not its human resource management ones).

The results of the integrity survey, and the progress of the OII overall, was presented by Elia Yi Armstrong of the UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs, to the Forum for a Global Integrity Alliance (GIA) at a March 2004 meeting in Istanbul, Turkey. The GIA is comprised of the same NGO actors from the field of domestic ethics already mentioned, as well as representatives of the private sector and national governments. The presentation indicated how the findings of the survey would be used in the creation of benchmarks for organisational integrity, and would inform programmes and activities for integrity promotion (Fourcault, 2004). These comments were in line with Deloitte's recommended actions following the study, to provide a safe milieu, follow up on survey findings, enhance integrity training and development improve the performance management system and provide continuous employee feedback (Deloitte, 2004). At this point there is no mention of the development of a new Ethics Office, or of significant overhaul or augmentation of the ethics infrastructure of the UN, but these priorities are conceptually consistent with the founding mandate of the Ethics Office. Moreover, despite earlier comments from spokespeople such as Nair that the uptake of the accountability and transparency agenda was strategic and thus superficial, this presentation showed that these programmatic ideas had been reinforced internally through a new programme of activity.

By the time that Armstrong was announcing the OII's progress to the forum in Turkey, however, external interest in the management of ethics at the UN had altered entirely. In January 2004, allegations of improper use of funds in the Oil for Food programme had been made public (BBC, 2005a). By April of 2004, investigations were underway (BBC, 2005b).

3.3 Period 3: Oil for Food (February 2004- September 2005)

In this period the UN responded to the Oil for Food fallout, in urgent, immediate ways. Chiefly, this involved direct investigation into allegations. During this time, no new action was taken on the reform of the system (this began with the World Summit in September 2005, which marks the beginning of the next time period discussed). The OII continued along an already established trajectory throughout 2004 and 2005, relying upon the same ideas of integrity, accountability, and transparency. Some activities towards this agenda acknowledged the ongoing crisis response; others did not.

This period was defined, though, by a new, external, attention to ethics within the UN. A new set of actors- chiefly, elected representatives of member states- called for reform of the management of ethical decisions within the UN. They too engaged the dominant ideas of the 'integrity' approach, and the emphasis was on organisational culture, beyond compliance. Unlike the attitude of considered diagnosis, strategic interest and gradual change which characterised the OII, the need for change was now imperative. Reforms were no longer justified in operational support of specific ethics-related programs, but for the very survival of the organisation. The voice of national governments likewise took on a different character and significance- some were implicated, others were demanding account. Some were both: the United States Government was chief among Member States in stressing the urgency of introducing integrity and accountability within the UN.

3.3.1 Investigations into the Allegations: Internal and External

There is no need for this paper to detail or analyse anew the Oil for Food scandal. It is suffice to note that in April 2004, three months after a newspaper in Iraq published allegations that 270 individuals had benefited from the illicit sale of Iraqi oil during the Oil for Food Programme, the UN initiated an inquiry (BBC, 2005b). The investigation panel was

known as the Volcker Committee, as it was headed by Former Chairman of the Board of Governors of the United States Federal Reserve System, Paul Volcker. The Volcker Committee was charged with determining whether rules had been violated; illicit or corrupt activities had occurred; and financial decisions could be accounted for (UN News, 2004). The committee found that a total of US\$1.8billion of illicit income had been generated during the Oil for Food programme (IIC, 2005). Secretary-General Kofi Anan responded to the release of the final report by stressing lessons which had been learnt, and noting that,

"I have already embarked on new reforms in areas where I have discretion – reforms designed to improve the performance of senior management, to strengthen *oversight and accountability*, to increase *transparency*, and to ensure the highest standards of ethics, notably by creating a new Ethics Office."

(UN News, 2005, emphasis added)

In a letter about the inquiry sent to UN staff in September 2005, Annan reiterated the same message, and made an explicit link between the findings of the Volker Committee and the Integrity Survey of 2004 (UN Foundation, 2005).

The United States and Iraqi governments also engaged in inquiries. A Congressional House Energy and Commerce Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations conducted a hearing in May 2005 (UN Foundation, 2005), which was the focus of significant attention by those in the UN, member states and the media wishing to reconstruct the series of events which led to the corruption allegations. This was not the only deliberation among concerned elected officials in the United States, however.

Between March and December 2005 the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations of the Congressional Committee on International Relations also met on

multiple occasions to discuss the appropriate diplomatic response to a perceived crisis in the management of ethics at the UN². Transcripts of these meetings are peppered with references to the Oil for Food scandal and the committee's ongoing investigations. Discussions are not limited to these allegations, however. There is also attention to other allegations concerning officers in the field, including "reports of widespread sexual abuse of women and children by U.N. peacekeepers, contractors and employees and an embezzlement scandal at the World Meteorological Organization" (House of Representatives, 2005b). These events are discussed in terms of "serious structural and other flaws that make comprehensive reform an imperative if the UN is to continue to play a major role in international affairs in this new century" (Schiff quoted in House of Representatives, 2005a). The guiding principles repeatedly proposed for this structural overhaul of ethics management within the UN are "public transparency and accountability" (Hyde quoted in House of Representatives, 2005a: 9, emphasis added). The following is an illustrative argument for reform

"We can no longer allow the U.N. to be so arrogant and so unaccountable as it has been. It cannot continue to fail its own annual financial audits. It cannot continue to endlessly promote incompetence upward through the system and reward financial mismanagement and procurement mistakes in the system."

(Rohrabacher quoted in House of Representatives, 2005c: 10)

Speeches to the committee continue to restate the importance of accountability to ensuring confidence within the US delegation to the UN. Unlike the understanding of organisational accountability implicitly underpinning the goals of the OII, however, this is a

The US Senate Subcommittee on Africa, Global Human Rights, and International Organizations, also discussed and heard testimony about the need for UN Peacekeeping Reform in May 2005 (Schwartz, 2005).

precise concept. The accountability demanded is firstly, accountability to member states and other affected people for the actions taken in the field; and secondly, and even more precisely, financial accountability of the organisation to funding states. The new attention to ethics born of multiple scandals had prompted stakeholders to demand a simple, measurable accountability and transparency, closely analogous to the model provided by democratic public administration.

3.3.2 OII: Business as usual

While external pressure mounted for an overhaul of the organisational infrastructure around ethics at the UN, re-framing integrity, transparency and accountability in exact, even quantifiable (financial) terms, internal ethics reform continued along the trajectory paved by the OII. On 12 September 2005 the Integrity Awareness Initiative programme was launched (UN Department of Public Information, 2009). This online training, which is hosted by the UNODC, offers modules in *Personal Integrity, Integrity in the United Nations Workplace*, *Integrity in Our Client Communities*, and *Reputation Management* (UN ESCAP, 2009). The concept of integrity advanced is linked back to the UN Charter, as well as the Standards of Conduct for the International Civil Service, again with an added emphasis on accountability and transparency which does not appear in the original documents. The glossary provided to assist in completing the training offers the following definitions of the three key concepts:

Accountability: Answerable for one's actions. Responsibility for negligence; for failing to meeting official obligations or commitments; or for non-compliance with, regulations and rules.

Integrity: According to Staff Regulation 1.2 (b), the concept of integrity includes, but is not limited to, probity, impartiality, fairness, honesty and truthfulness in all

matters affecting their work and status.

Transparency: The quality of being easily understood or detected, for example, availability and accessibility of the true reasons for administrative decisions.

(UN ESCAP, 2009)

On the whole, these definitions mirror the spirit of the concept of integrity as used in the UN Charter; they have less in common with the domestic analogy made by those applying pressure in the wake of the scandal. The online learning materials note that the training will "help establish an inner standard for judging behaviour" (UN ESCAP, 2009). At the completion of the training, staff undertake an "Integrity Challenge" test.

Earlier in the same year, the Under-Secretary-General for Management released an Information Circular (UN, 2005e) reminding staff "of the means available to them for reporting suspected misconduct". In the introduction to the circular the timing and purpose of the announcement was linked to the OII and the integrity survey. No explicit reference was made to current investigations, although the timing must have made the connection clear for staff. There was by no means complete denial of the ethical maelstrom threatening to engulf the organisation, however, even as around the OII business continued as usual. For example, Elia Yi Armstrong, in an August 2005 article on "Integrity, transparency and accountability in public administration: Recent trends, regional and international developments and emerging issues", took the opportunity to both acknowledge the ongoing investigations, and explain that the OII preceded the events by a matter of months, and had been informed by current best practice from public administration (Armstrong, 2005).

There is also piecemeal evidence that some organisational units took the recent events as impetus for new efforts toward internal reform. In 2005, the group of Legal Advisers of the United Nations "decided to constitute a working group to exchange information and review policies and procedures" with respect to the treatment of fraud and corruption among different UN agencies (Licul, 2007). As with the initial inter-agency anti-corruption project which led to the OII, the aim of this process was better harmonisation of inter-unit policies and procedures. Also in 2005, the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU) engaged in research on "oversight lacunae", assessing the effectiveness of internal investigations mechanisms (UN, 2005f). The OIOS also presented proposals for strengthening their own role and performance (UN, 2006c). These endogenous attempts at reform along existing institutional paths were soon to be eclipsed, however, by a far-reaching and thorough agenda for organisational overhaul. In September 2005 the UN World Summit met in New York, described by the Secretary-General as offering "a once-in-a-generation opportunity" for international decision-making, as well as "a chance to revitalise the United Nations itself" (UN Department of Public Information, 2005).

3.4 Period 4: World Summit Agenda (September 2005- May 2006)

With the release of the final report of the Volker Committee, Secretary-General Kofi Annan announced his intention to address the issues it raised with a review and expansion of the ethics and oversight systems of the UN (UN News, 2005). Only a week after these comments, the proposals for the specific reforms were in front of the High Plenary Meeting (The World Summit) in New York.

3.4.1 World Summit Resolutions

The World Summit was held between 14 and 16 September, 2005 and was attended by a record number of delegates (UN Press Release, 2005). The bulk of decisions and resolutions concerned the operations and activities of the UN agencies, but there was also an ambitious agenda for reform of internal management systems, and aspects of the UN Charter (UN Department of Public Information, 2005). The General Assembly Resolution setting out the agenda for reform of the ethics management system noted that the UN Secretariat should operate in accordance with the UN Charter, but also "in a culture of organizational accountability, transparency and integrity" (UN, 2005a). As noted above, of these qualities only integrity was part of the initial UN Charter requirements of administrative decisions; the others arrived with the OII and its constitutive ideational influences.

At the World Summit, the General Assembly resolved to support management reform measures towards the strengthening of accountability, transparency and integrity within the organisation, including: increased financial disclosure (conflict of interest declarations); protection against retaliation for those who report misconduct (whistleblower protection); the development of a "system-wide code of ethics for all United Nations Personnel"; and the creation of an independent Ethics Office (UN 2005a). In press reports, much was made of the last-minute and heated debate around the Ethics Office, but the proposal was endorsed (UN News, 2006b).

Reporting on the progress of these measures in November 2005, Annan told the General Assembly that the financial disclosure system established in 1999 (UN, 2006a) had been expanded, and that whistleblower protection policies had been developed. In this report plans were also outlined to complete the implementation of the World Summit outcomes. Three new elements were introduced to the ethics management system: the Ethics Office; an independent (external) evaluation of the oversight and auditing systems of the UN; and an

Independent Audit Advisory Committee (UN, 2005c).

3.4.2 Establishment of the UN Ethics Office

The whistleblower protection policy was announced to the organisation in a Bulletin (UN, 2005d) on 15 December 2005, and included a description of the involvement of the new Ethics Office in administering the new system. The Ethics Office was formally established on 1 January 2006. Like the OIOS and the Ombudsman, the new Ethics Office is situated within the Secretariat. As well as its responsibilities for staff training and advice, the new financial disclosure and protection systems, the Office may also take on additional functions as decided by the Secretary-General (UN, 2005b). The Office is open to requests from all staff, and all staff are obliged to comply with its instructions and requests for information.

UN Press Releases did not attempt to hide the *ad hoc* character of the first few months of the Office, while stressing that it was already operational (UN News, 2006b). At this early stage, reports noted the involvement of existing integrity experts from within the UN, such as Elia Yi Armstrong, who again reiterated the need for the UN to act as a role-model for anti-corruption (UN News, 2006b). Another key internal figure in the early aspects of the process was Melissa Parke, from the UN Department of Management. For the first month the Ethics Office was staffed with two seconded officers, and an interim director. These staff emphasised to the media that the aims of the Office, including the new disclosure functions, pre-dated the Volker inquiry (UN News, 2006b).

On 23 February 2006 Annan announced the appointment of a Special Advisor to the Office, co-founder of the Malaysian chapter of Transparency International, Tunku Abdul Aziz (UN News, 2006a). As well as his background in the private and public sectors, Mr Aziz's participation in the World Bank High Level Advisory Group on Anti-Corruption in the East Asia and Pacific Region was particularly noted in the announcement. Another external expert

in public sector ethics, Howard Whitton, was brought in to flesh out the Office's mandate.

The object of interest in the present account of institutional development and change is the Ethics Office. However, while the tracing of the World Summit decisions and outcomes has revolved around the factors leading to the establishment of the office, it is worth noting that the World Summit outcomes also set in motion another set of reforms, focusing on issues of governance, investigation and evaluation ('oversight') within the organisation. As the next chapter will show, these efforts of reform were far from resolved at the time that the Ethics Office came to fruition.

3.5 Period 5: UN Ethics Office- the first three years (May 2006- present)

If the dates chosen by UN public affairs officials to release press releases are a sound indication, the Ethics Office was fully operational by May 2006 (UN Department of Public Information, 2006). By the end of July 2006, the office had fielded 153 inquiries and administered financial disclosure declarations for 1,800 staff (UN, 2006a). The bulk of requests (41%) were for ethics advice (UN, 2006a).

3.5.1 Ongoing oversight reforms

Following the establishment of the Ethics Office, the momentum of reform around ethics infrastructure did not cease, but continued elsewhere in the organisation. UNODC, OIOS and the Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) directed attention back towards the UN Convention against Corruption, and the creation of institutional means to ensure its standards were upheld within the organisation promoting them (UNODC, 2007). In April 2007 the UNODC proposed the development of specific guidance for applying the Convention within IOs. The final document, *Checklist of Relevant Principles Embodies in the UNCAC Relevant*

to International Organisations and International Civil Servants is a step beyond earlier rhetorical commitment to the principles of the Convention, bringing the UN within the same legal framework established against corruption in member states. This clarification of responsibilities and prescriptive standards for ethics management thus represents a continuation of the 'oversight' improvements begun in Period 4.

At a higher level of strategic decision-making, there was a much more substantive programme of activity planned around the organisational oversight agenda. At the same time that press releases about the opening of the Ethics Office announced a culture change in the UN approach to integrity, a thorough external review was finalising its plan for a fundamental overhaul of the internal governance of the UN. In July 2006, the final report (UN, 2006b) of the requested *Comprehensive Review of Governance and Oversight* was released. Recommendations spanned all aspects of governance, including budgetary reporting, resource allocation, programme planning and committee procedures, as well as ethics infrastructure for whistleblower protection and financial disclosure. A new Governance Code for the organisation was also proposed. Recommendations for improved oversight included the abolition of the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU) and the establishment of an Independent Audit Advisory Committee (IAAC). The JIU remains, but the first IAAC came into effect on 1 January 2008. As intended, the expert membership of the committee provides advice on oversight activities within the UN.

These major reforms of internal governance, and the emphasis on 'oversight' they have in common, suggest that the culture change towards organisational integrity promised by the Ethics Office was not sufficiently reassuring to the Secretariat or member states in the wake of the Oil for Food scandal. The independent review was concerned with risk, institutional safeguards and compliance: in short, a revitalisation of the existing compliance systems which evolved in Period 1. There are two possible ways to interpret the parallel

pursuit of the new governance and oversight agenda and the new operations of the Ethics Office. The first is that the oversight reforms were considered essential regardless of the successful development of a new culture of organisational integrity, and that the two elements of the new ethics management system would act in complement of one another. The other possibility is that the Ethics Office, established with urgency following the World Summit, was not expected to have a significant substantive effect on ethics issues. In other words, it may be considered window dressing for a more challenging renovation of the governance structures of the UN, or a temporary measure until these were complete. The existing outcomes of the OII were capitalised upon, bringing to prominence ideas which may have otherwise remained a peripheral, human resources interest. However, the ideas informing the institutional arrangements for ethical conduct at the UN remained the same as those represented in the 1945 UN charter.

3.5.2 Shifting the boundaries of the Ethics Office

Public comment concerning the impact of the Ethics Office, originating inside and outside the organisation alike, offers some support for this latter version of the drivers of change. An early test of the whistleblower protection policy, and the scope of the office generally, was made in August 2007 when a UNDP staff member made public allegations of retaliation reporting suspected major conflict of interest breaches in the UN's North Korean operations (Fox News, 2007; GAP, 2007; Higgins & Stecklow, 2008; IHT, 2007). After an initial delay, the UNDP decided not to refer the matter to the Ethics Office- or cooperate with an investigation by the Ethics Office- on the basis that the Office's mandate did not extend to all UN agencies, but only the Secretariat (GAP, 2007). In November 2007, Secretary-General Ban Ki-Moon released a staff Bulletin confirming this position, entitled *United Nations system-wide application of ethics: Separately administered organs and programmes* (UN,

2007). It was at odds with statements made at the World Summit, and in the first months of operation of the Office (see UN 2005a).

The dissonance between the Bulletin and existing expectations about the office was reinforced by United States Representative for United Nations Management and Reform Mark Wallace's decision to appeal to the Director of the Ethics Office, Robert Benson, to take on the case (Wallace, 2007). In this letter he quoted from the World Summit outcome document which urged for the development of "a system-wide code of ethics for all the United Nations personnel" (UN 2005a; Wallace, 2007). It is clear that for those within the US government who had pressured the UN for ethics reform, the Ethics Office was understood to be a fulfilment of these requests. The Secretary-General's Bulletin, however, insisted that the intention was to have an *independent* ethics office for each "separately administered organ or programme of the United Nations" (UN, 2007). With this statement, the implications of which are still being debated (see for example Global Administrative Law, 2009), the UN announced that, as a minimum, the Ethics Office as established would have significantly less jurisdiction and territory than originally understood³. However, the ongoing governance and oversight reviews suggest that pressure from member states may prompt yet another revision.

It is not the purpose of this analysis to speculate on the future of the Ethics Office in this regard. Ban's interpretation of the Ethics Office mandate does not negate what has already been established about the motivations behind its creation. Nonetheless, considering the ongoing evolution of the Office, and other reforms initiated at the same time, offers some insight on the decisions of interest: those leading to its creation. The surprising interpretation of the Ethics Office's jurisdiction followed the appointment of a new Secretary-General, so it may be expected that it reflects individual ideas about the management of ethics in the UN

Apparently, even less than Benson had understood when he was appointed [ref].

which differ from his predecessor. Even taking this into account, the existence of this space for disagreement and re-interpretation of the Office's mandate may indicate that the new system was created in haste. Viewed from a distance, the creation of the Ethics Office may not be the revolution in organisational ethics for the UN initially claimed, but merely the newest event in a long-standing institutional trajectory. This possibility, and the implications it holds for the role of ideas in the case study, will be taken up in the conclusion below.

4. Conclusion

The last chapter briefly traced the process of the development of the UN Ethics Office, and the first three years of institutional evolution. In conclusion to this analysis, this chapter will return to the initial research question and assess whether there is sufficient the evidence for an *independent* and *causal* role for ideational factors in each of the time periods discussed.

4.1 The OII and the creation of ideational path dependency

Two alternative versions of the driving factors behind the creation of the Ethics Office were advanced through the process tracing exercise:

- a. That the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office is consistent with the ideational *status quo*, and that institutional change in the UN ethics infrastructure is best explained by exogenous shocks (the Oil for Food scandal).
- b. That the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office is a product of the embedding of a new ideational trajectory in ethics management for international organisation, characterised by the ideas of integrity, accountability and transparency.

The discussion above has presented a range of evidence in support of the suggestions that a new ideational trajectory provided the conceptual backdrop to the ethics reform project. For half a century, the progressively augmented institutional architecture around ethics had been focused on the behaviour of individual officers. Rules and regulations and a code of conduct clearly delineated appropriate from inappropriate behaviour, and established the

expectation that officers show personal integrity. Internal and external bodies were created to advise staff and to investigate specific allegations of misconduct. Then, between Period 1 and Period 2, the uptake of a new set of programmatic ideas within the UN signalled a renewed interest in ethics for international organisation. The OII was informed by a novel understanding of integrity with the organisation *per se*, not individual officers, as its subject. The OII agenda referenced the principle of integrity, built into the founding documents of the UN and the code of the ICSC. However, whereas in these documents integrity is a personal quality, and evidenced by responsible carrying-out of duties and acting in the organisation's interest, the OII gave the concept a new character, reliant upon its connection to the more abstract concepts of accountability and transparency.

These ideas remained abstract where used by the OII. This may be quite simply because, as the literature review showed, there is no singular or obvious application of these principles of democratic government within the decision-making and operational mandates of the UN. Neither the principal nor agent in the accountable, transparent governance relationship is identified. Appropriately, perhaps, then, the UN's public justification for the need to reform ethics infrastructure in line with this package of ideas was that as the organisation wished to actively promote a global anti-corruption pact, it needed to 'lead by example.' These statements show a use of discourse which is strategic or even cynical. Essentially advertising the role played by key experts from the sphere of public administration in the construction of an organisational ethics defined by integrity, accountability and transparency further reinforced that the organisational commitment was primarily to the cachet of these programmatic ideas.

However, despite the reiteration of this functional and operationally-strategic narrative among UN actors, in practice this commitment was not merely adopted for purpose, until such time that its usefulness expired. The OII created a new discursive trajectory in ethics for

international organisation, and a full agenda of reform activities and reports on activities reinforced this path and created momentum around these ideas. In the terminology of discursive institutionalism, an ideational path dependency was created, which unavoidably shaped future deliberations in ethics reform. Thus, the dominant concepts of integrity, accountability and transparency was employed in support of any and all activities in the ethics reform project, to the point that the discourse itself held a cachet independent of its substantive meaning. It has already been noted how over time the locus of integrity was shifted from the person to the organisation, and that this was associated with the expressed intention to foster an accountable, transparent organisation. The other terms were found to be similarly accommodating, depending on the project.

For example, when the early activities of the OII worked towards accountability, the concept (implicitly) alluded to an intra-organisational culture of ethical behaviour from the top down, in which all staff were confident of protection against retaliation for reporting misconduct, which would be in turn appropriately investigated and punished. When the oversight reforms of Period 4 and 5 presented a newly accountable UN to the world, the accountability was of the organisation to its external stakeholders, in member states and in the field. This would be evidenced by institutional checks against financial impropriety and unethical behaviour of individual officers carrying out UN mandates. The final mandate of the Ethics Office- especially the whistleblower protection regime- managed to satisfy both versions. Similarly, invoking the idea of transparency signals different priorities in ethics infrastructure, depending on the project being pursued. When defined in staff training, it suggested greater openness and answerability for decision-making processes within the organisation, including, crucially, questions of internal and administrative justice. When used in support of the new conflict of interest rules, it promised, again, more transparency into the organisation for those viewing from the outside, especially member states, and especially

with reference to financial decisions.

The ongoing cachet, in the face of apparent contradiction, of the programmatic ideas of integrity, accountability and transparency in the reform process shows the strength of the ideational path dependence forged by the OII. This allowed the ideas, originally drawn from the realm of domestic public administration, to exert an influence over the reform process, independent of their substantive meanings and consequences.

4.2 Independent, but causal?

However, while the process tracing exercise yielded evidence of the existence of this ideational trajectory, it was not conclusive that the independent role of ideas was causal in the development of the Ethics Office. It has already been seen that the dominant discourse was subject to shifting interpretation and multiple meanings, and accommodating of almost any ethical reform activity. Despite the claim of a culture change supported by the language of 'integrity', much of the mandate of the Ethics Office is entirely consistent with the style of ethics management pursued by the UN since the drafting of the 1945 Charter. Prior to the Oil for Food scandal, the OII advanced an image of a system built upon more holistic training and coordination, but the final proposal approved by the World Summit promised a combination of functional reform of rules, supervision and investigation, and a renewed commitment to 'oversight' to safeguard organisational interests. As such, the final package of governance and ethics restructuring, of which the Ethics Office was only one element, is most easily explained as a revival of the programmatic ideas which had informed the UN ethics system for the vast majority of its history, combining a compliance approach with explicit attention to the unique characteristics of the international civil service. This return to founding principles is understandable, given a renewed interest by member states into the ethics infrastructure of the organisation.

This conclusion does not imply that the emphasis on ideas and promise of culture change, as illustrated in the introduction, is merely a calculated public affairs strategy only. Indeed, the process tracing exercise has shown strong support for the discursive institutionalist suggestion that the discourse can play an independent role in institutional change. However, what was not predictable from the theory adopted at the outset was that the *ideational* path dependency created did not inevitably translate into a new *institutional* trajectory for ethics management. Ideas had played a role autonomous from material factors, but this does not mean they *shaped* the material factors.

Of the alternative explanations posited, therefore, there was the strongest evidence that the UN Ethics Office is consistent with the ideational *status quo* of ethics management within the organisational. The institutional change observed may be accounted for by reference to exogenous pressures resulting from the fallout to the Oil for Food scandal. To return to the research question originally posited, it must be concluded that ideas were not constitutive to the creation and mandate of the UN Ethics Office.

Reference List

Amstutz, M. R. 2005. *International Ethics: Concepts, Theories, and Cases in Global Politics*. (Lantham: Rowman and Littlefield).

Armstrong, E. 2005. 'Integrity, transparency and accountability in public administration: Recent trends, regional and international developments and emerging issues'. *Economic and Social Affairs (United Nations)*, August 2005.

Bates, R. H. (1998). "The international coffee organization: An international institution." In R. H. Bates, A. Greif, M. Levi, J-N Rosenthal, and B. R. Weingast, *Analytic Narratives*. (Princeton: Princeton University Press). pp. 194-230.

BBC. 2005a. "Q&A: Oil for Food Scandal". Available online at http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/middle_east/4232629.stm . Accessed 20 July 2009.

BBC. 2005b. :Timeline: Oil for Food Scandal". Available online at http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/middle_east/4445609.stm. Accessed 20 July 2009.

Bennett, A. 2009. Process Tracing. A Bayesian Perspective. In: J. M. Box-Steffensmeier, H. E. Brady, and D. Collier (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Political Methodology*. (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Berman, S. (1998). *The social democratic moment: Ideas in the making of interwar Europe*. (Cambridge, Mass., Harvard University Press).

Checkel, J. T. 2005. 'It's the process, stupid! Process tracing in the study of European and International Politics'. Arena Centre for European Studies Working paper 26. www.arena.uio.no.

Cochran, M. 1999. *Normative Theory in International Relations- A Pragmatic Approach*. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Cohen, M. 1985. "Moral scepticism and international relations". In C. R. Beitz, M. Cohen, T. Scanlon, and A. J. Simmons (eds.) *International Ethics*. (Princeton: Princeton University Press). pp 3-51.

Cooper, T. C (ed.) 1994. Handbook of Administrative Ethics. (New York: Marcel Dekker Inc.)

Cunningham, R. 2003. 'Creating or maintaining an ethical, effective public administration.' In P. Bishop, C.Connors, and C. Sampford (eds.) (2003). *Management, organization, and ethics in the public sector*. (Aldershot: Ashgate). pp. 219-233.

Deloitte. 2004. United Nations Organizational Integrity Survey. Report prepared for UN by Deloitte Counselling LLP.

Dryzek, J. S (1999). "Transnational democracy." The Journal of Political Philosophy. 7 (3), pp

30-51.

Erikson, E. O. and J. E. Fossum (2000). "Post-national integration." In E. O. Erikson, and J. E. Fossum (eds.) *Democracy in the European Union: integration through deliberation?* (London, Routledge). pp1-28.

Fourcault, H. 2004. "UN Nations Organisational Integrity Initiative (OII)." Presentation to Global Integrity Alliance, 25-26 March, Istanbul. Delivered by Elia Yi Armstrong, UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs.

Fox News. 2007. "U.S. Pressures U.N. for Action on Ethics Cases". August 23. available online at http://www.foxnews.com/printer-friendly-story/0,3566,294270,00.html. Accessed May 5, 2009.

Frost, M. 1996. *Ethics in International Relations: A constitutive theory*. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

George, A. and A. Bennett (2005). Case studies and theory development in the social sciences. (Cambridge, Mass, MIT press).

Ghere, R. 2005. "Globalisation and public-service ethics: Some directions for inquiry." In H. G. Frederickson and R. K. Ghere (eds.), *Ethics in Public Management*. (Armonk: M. E. Sharpe), pp. 328-355.

Global Administrative Law. 2009. "The UN Ethics Office and Administrative Law." January 5. Available online at http://globaladminlaw.blogspot.com/2009/01/un-ethics-office-and-administrative-law.html. Accessed 8 May 2009.

Government Accountability Project (GAP). 2007. "New UN ethics guidelines greatly misleading". December 4. Available online at http://www.whistleblower.org/content/press detail.cfm?press id=1253 Accessed 5 May 2009.

Graham, G. 1997. Ethics and International Relations. (Oxford: Blackwell Publishers).

Hare, J. E. and C. B. Joynt 1982. *Ethics and International Affairs*. (Chippenham, Wiltshire: Antony Row Ltd).

Hay, C. 2001. 'Translating liberalization: Neoliberalism in the Danish negotiated economy'. In J. C. Campbell and O. K. Pedersen (eds) *the Rise of Neoliberalism and Institutional Analysis*. (Princeton, Princeton University Press), pp 219-248.

Hay, C. 2008. 'Constructivist Institutionalism', in R.A.W Rhodes, S Binder and B. A. Rockman (eds.). *The Oxford Handbook of Political Institutions*. (Oxford, Oxford).

Higgins, A. and S. Stecklow. 2008. "UN push to stem misconduct flounders." Wall Street Journal, December 25.

Higgot, R. and M. Ougaard (2002). "Introduction." in M. Ougaard and R. Higgot (eds.) *Towards a Global Polity*. (London, Routledge), pp.1-19.

House of Representatives (2005a). "Subcommittee Report on the Oil-for-Food Program: The systematic failure of the United Nations" Hearing before the committee on International Relations. One Hundred Ninth Congress, First Session, December 7 (Serial No. 109–98). Available online at

http://commdocs.house.gov/committees/intlrel/hfa24907.000/hfa24907_0f.htm .Accessed 20 July 2009.

House of Representatives (2005b). "United Nations Reform: Challenges and Prospects." Hearing before the committee on International Relations. One Hundred Ninth Congress, First Session, March 15 (Serial No. 109-71). Available online at http://commdocs.house.gov/committees/intlrel/hfa20055.000/hfa20055 Of.htm. Accessed 20 July 2009.

House of Representatives (2005c). "United Nations Reform: Integrity and Accountability" Hearing before the committee on International Relations. One Hundred Ninth Congress, First Session, March 2 (Serial No. 109–11). Available online at http://commdocs.house.gov/committees/intlrel/hfa99593.000/hfa99593 Of.htm .Accessed 20 July 2009.

ICSC. 1987. *Statute and Rules of Procedure*. International Civil Service Commission ICSC/1/Rev1.

ICSC. 2002. Standards of Conduct for the International Civil Service. International Civil Service Commission

International Herald Tribune (IHT). 2007. Author of U.N. whistleblower policy says U.N. exemployee in N. Korea should get whistleblower protection. 9 July.

IIC. 2005. "Report on programme manipulation". Independent Inquiry into the United Nations Oil for Food Programme. October 27.\

JIU. 2004. The UN Joint Inspection Unit (website). Available online at http://www.unjiu.org/ Accessed 20 July 2009.

Licul, C. 2007. "Ad Hoc Working Group of the legal Advisers on Fraud and Corruption: Consolidated replies on Part 1". Office Memorandum to UN Legal Advisers, 24 April 2007.

Linklater, A. 2001. "Citizenship, Humanity, and Cosmopolitan Harm Conventions". *International Political Science*, 22 (3): 261-277.

Maesschalck, J. 2004-5. 'Approaches to ethics management in the public sector', *Public Integrity* 7/1: 21-41.

Mapel, D. R. and Nardin, T. 1998. 'Introduction'. In D. R. Mapel and Nardin, T. (eds.) *International Society*. (Princeton: Princeton University Press). pp 3-14.

Martin, J. 2003. 'Great expectations- but whose?' Stakeholder theory and its implications for

ethical behaviour in public organizations.' In P. Bishop, C.Connors, and C. Sampford (eds.) 2003. *Management, organization, and ethics in the public sector*. (Aldershot: Ashgate). pp. 43-66.

Menzel, D. C. 2005. "State of the art of empirical research on ethics and integrity in governance." In H. G. Frederickson and R. K. Ghere (eds.), *Ethics in Public Management*. (Armonk: M. E. Sharpe), pp. 16-47.

Menzel, D. C. 2007. *Ethics Management for Public Administrators: Building organizations of integrity.* (Armonk: M. E. Sharpe).

Nair, D. 2002. "Keynote Speech on Oversight and Integrity in the New Public Interest". Presented at IIPE Biennial Conference, 4-7 October, Brisbane, Australia.

Nickel, J. W. 2002. "Is Today's International Human Rights System a Global Governance Regime?" *The Journal of Ethics*, 6 (4): 353-371.

OECD.1996. 'Ethics in the Public Service: Current Issues and Practice.' Public Management Occasional Papers, No. 14. Available from http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/59/24/1898992.pdf accessed 18 Dec 2008.

Parsons, C. 2002. 'Showing Ideas as Causes: The Origins of the European Union', *International Organization* 56, 1, Winter 2002, pp. 47–84.

Rohr, J. A. 1998. *Public Service, Ethics, and Constitutional Practice*. (Kansas: University Press of Kansas).

Rosenthal, J-N. (1998). "The political economy of absolutism reconsidered". In R. H. Bates, A. Greif, M. Levi, J-N Rosenthal, and B. R. Weingast, *Analytic Narratives*. (Princeton: Princeton University Press). pp. 64-108.

Schmidt, V. A. 2008 "From Historical Institutionalism to Discursive Institutionalism: Explaining Institutional Change in Political Economy" Paper presented at the annual meeting of the APSA 2008 Annual Meeting, Hynes Convention Centre, Boston, Massachusetts Online. Available from http://www.allacademic.com/meta/p278339 index.html. Accessed 20 February 2009.

Schmidt, V. A. c.2009 'Give peace a chance: Reconciling four (not three) "new institutionalism". In D. Beland and R. Cox (eds.) *Ideas and Politics in Social Science Research*. Forthcoming.

Schwartz, E. P. 2005. "UN Peacekeeping reform: Seeking greater accountability and integrity". Testimony before the House of International Relations Subcommittee on Africa, Global Human Rights and International Relations, US Senate, May 18. available online at

Tansey, O. 2007. 'Process Tracing and Elite Interviewing: A Case for Non-probability Sampling' *PS: Political Science & Politics*, 40 (4), pp. 765-772.

Thelen, K., and S. Steinmo (1992). 'Historical institutionalism in comparative politics.' In Sven Steinmo, Kathleen Thelen, and Frank Longstreth (eds.) *Structuring politics: historical*

institutionalism in comparative analysis (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press) pp 1-30.

UN. 1945. UN Charter. New York: United Nations.

UN. 1994. "Review of the efficiency of the administrative and financial functioning of the United Nations." Resolution of the General Assembly, 12 August (A/RES/48/218 B).

UN. 2002a. "Staff Rules: Staff Regulations of the United Nations and Staff Rules 100.1 to 112.8." Secretary General's Bulletin, 1 January (ST/SGB/2002/1).

UN. 2002b. "Office of the Ombudsman- appointment and terms of reference of the Ombudsman." Secretary-General's Bulletin. 15 October (ST/SGB/2002/12).

UN. 2003. "Report of the Office of Oversight Services. Note by the Secretary-General." 11 September (A/58/364).

UN. 2005a. "2005 World Summit Outcome." Resolution adopted by the General Assembly. 24 October (A/RES/60/1).

UN. 2005b. "Ethics Office- establishment and terms of reference." Secretary-General's Bulletin, 30 December (ST/SGB/2005/22

UN. 2005c. "Implementation of decisions from the 2005 World Summit Outcome for action by the Secretary-General Ethics office; comprehensive review of governance arrangements, including an independent external evaluation of the auditing and oversight system; and the independent audit advisory committee." Report of the Secretary-General. 28 November (A/60/568).

UN. 2005d. "Protection against retaliation for reporting misconduct and for cooperating with duly authorized audits or investigations." 19 December (ST/SGB/2005/21).

UN. 2005e. "Reporting of suspected misconduct". Information circular to Members of the Staff from the Under-Secretary-General for Management, 24 March (ST/IC/2005/19).

UN. 2005f. "Report of the Joint Inspection Unit for 2004 and programme of work for 2005." (A/60/34).

UN. 2006a. "Activities of the Ethics Office." Report of the Secretary-General. 18 August (A/61/274).

UN. 2006b. "Implementation of decisions contained in the 2005 World Summit Outcome for action by the Secretary-General: Comprehensive review of governance and oversight within the United Nations and its funds, programmes and specialized agencies." Report of the Secretary-General. 10 July (A/60/883).

UN. 2006c. "Report of the Office of Internal Oversight Services on proposals for strengthening the Office of Internal Oversight Services". 14 July (A/60/901).

UN. 2007. "United Nations system-wide application of ethics: Separately administered

organs and programmes." Secretary-General's Bulletin, 30 November (ST/SGB/2007/11).

UN. 2008. "Staff Regulations", 1 January (ST/SGB/2008/4).

UN Department of Public Information. 2005. "The 2005 World Summit: High-level Plenary Meeting of the 60th Session of the General Assembly, 14-16 September" (Website). Available online at http://www.un.org/summit2005/. Accessed 20 July 2009.

UN Department of Public Information. 2006. "Press conference by special adviser for ethics office." 11 May. Available online at http://www.un.org/News/briefings/docs/2006/060511 Ethics.doc.htm. Accessed 8 May 2009.

UN Department of Public Information. 2009. "Reform at the United Nations: Chronology". Available online at http://www.un.org/reform/chronology.shtml. Accessed 20 July 2009.

UN ESCAP. 2009. Integrity Awareness Initiative (Online learning resource). Available online at http://integrity.unodc.org/iaun/slide002.html. Accessed 5 May 2009.

UN Foundation. 2005. "House Energy and Commerce Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations Hearing, 'The United Nations Oil-for-Food Program: Saddam Hussein's Use of Oil Allocations to Undermine Sanctions and the United Nations Security Council,' 109th Cong., 1st sess.," Oil for Food Facts. 16 May. Available online at http://www.oilforfoodfacts.org/05_16_05_energycommhearing.aspx.

UN News. 2004. "Terms of reference". Reproduced in UN News. Available online at http://www.un.org/News/dh/iraq/oip_terms_reference.htm. Accessed 20 July 2009. UN News. 2005. "Annan stresses 'vital importance' of UN reforms in wake of Oil-for-Food report" 7 September. Available online at http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=15703&Cr=iraq&Cr1=oil&Kw1=ethics+office&Kw2=&Kw3-. Accessed 20 July 2009.

UN News. 2006a. Malaysian anti-corruption leader appointed as UN ethics adviser. February 23. available online at

http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=17598&Cr=UN&Cr1=staff&Kw1=ethics+office&Kw2=&Kw3=) . Accessed 20 July 2009.

UN News. 2006b. "Starting operations, new UN ethics office fields staff requests for advice". January 17. available online at www.globalpolicy.org/reform/topics/general/2006/0117ethics.htm. Accessed 8 May 2009.

UN News. 2006c. "UN Ethics office will go beyond regulations to create moral milieu, says adviser". 11 May. Available online at http://www.un.org/apps/news/printnewsAr.asp?nid=18440. Accessed 8 May 2009.

UNODC. 2003. Report on the fourth United Nations inter-agency anti-corruption coordination meeting. Vienna, 24-25 July.

UNODC. 2007. "Relevance of the United Nations Convention Against Corruption to International Organisations and International Civil Servants." United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, 22 May.

UN Ombudsman. 2009. UN Ombudsman (website). Available online at http://www.un.org/ombudsman/. Accessed 20 July 2009.

UN Press Release. 2005. "Stakes are high for World Summit at United Nations, 14-16 September." 30 August. Available online at http://www.un.org/summit2005/aug30 press.pdf . Accessed 20 July 2009.

Vincent, R. J. 1992. "The idea of rights in international ethics". In T. Nardin, and D. R Mapel (eds.) 1992. *Traditions of International Ethics*. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press). pp 250-269.

Wallace, M. D. 2007. Letter to Mr Robert Benson, Director, United Nations Ethics Office from Mark D. Wallace, United States Representative for United Nations Management and Reform. August 21.